THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000794  
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-02875

RECEIVED  
JAN 04 2019  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation, Edward D. Sloan, Jr., and William B. DePass, Jr., individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, ..... Appellants,

v.

Richland County,..... Respondent,

And

Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority.....Intervenor/Respondent

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

James G. Carpenter, S.C. Bar No. 1136  
THE CARPENTER LAW FIRM, PC  
819 E. North Street

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CMRTA ORDER VIOLATE THE SUPREME COURT RULING?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RICHLAND COUNTY ORDER FAIL TO ADDRESS SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT?
- III. DID APPELLANTS PLEAD AND SUPPORTED VALID CLAIMS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants South Carolina Public Interest Foundation (“SCPIF”), Edward D. Sloan, Jr., and William B. DePass, Jr., appeal two orders of the Circuit Court, and the denial of their Motions to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 1-18). The Circuit Court granted Summary Judgment to the Central Midlands Regional Transportation Authority (“CMRTA”). (R. pp. 10-18). The Circuit Court also dismissed the Appellants’ case against Richland County for failure to prosecute. (R. pp. 4-9).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of the same factual background as *Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 811 S.E.2d 758 (S.C. 2018). The Supreme Court opinion provides a well-developed statement of the background facts.

Through the Optional Methods for Financing Transportation Facilities Act (Transportation Act), the General Assembly has authorized the governing body of a county to “impose by ordinance a sales and use tax in an amount not to exceed one percent within its jurisdiction for a single project or for multiple projects and for a specific period of time to collect a limited amount of money.” S.C. Code Ann. § 4-37-30(A) (Supp. 2017). This is commonly referred to as the “penny tax.” The types of projects permitted to be funded with such a tax are “highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other *transportation-related projects*.” *Id.* § 4-37-30(A)(1)(a)(i) (emphasis added). The revenues generated from such a tax must be used in accordance with **statutory restrictions** imposed by the General Assembly—namely, proceeds must be used for the **capital costs** of the types of transportation projects identified in the Transportation Act. *Id.* § 4-37-30(A)(15).

To implement a transportation penny tax, “[t]he governing body of a county may vote to impose the tax authorized by this section, subject to a referendum, by enacting an ordinance.” *Id.* § 4-37-30(A)(1). The local ordinance must specify the projects for which the proceeds of the tax are to be used; the length of time for which the tax is to be imposed; “the estimated *capital cost* of the project or projects to be funded in whole or in part from proceeds of the tax;” and the “anticipated year the tax will end.” *Id.* § 4-37-30(A)(1) (emphasis added). At issue in this case is whether and to what extent certain costs qualify as “capital costs” and thus are considered proper

expenditures of penny tax revenues.

\* \* \*

Under these enabling provisions of the Transportation Act, on July 18, 2012, the County enacted Ordinance No. 039-12HR (Ordinance) scheduling a referendum on November 6, 2012, for the purpose of seeking approval from voters for a penny sales and use tax (Penny Tax). The Ordinance referenced various provisions of the Transportation Act and proposed the imposition of a tax for twenty-two years for the following projects:

(d) The Sales and Use Tax shall be expended for the costs of the following projects ... for the following purposes:

(i) Improvements to highways, roads (paved and unpaved), streets, intersections, and bridges including related drainage system improvements. Amount: \$656,020,644;

(ii) **Continued operation of mass transit services** provided by Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority including implementation of near, mid and long-term service improvements. Amount \$300,991,000; and

(iii) Improvements to pedestrian sidewalks, bike paths, intersections and greenways. Amount: \$80,888,356.

\* \* \*

The referendum passed. The Penny Tax became effective beginning May 1, 2013, and is authorized to run for twenty-two years (through April 30, 2035) to raise over \$1 billion for specified transportation projects throughout Richland County. Since taking effect, the Penny Tax has generated around \$5 million in revenues per month for Richland County. Prior to this dispute, and in accordance with its statutory mandate, DOR allocated and remitted net revenues to the State Treasurer on a monthly basis. Those monies (with interest) were then distributed by the State Treasurer to the County on a quarterly basis as required by the Transportation Act. Specifically, section 4-37-30(A)(15) provides the State Treasurer is to hold these funds in a designated account separate from the general fund of the state, and once distributed, “these revenues and interest earnings must be used only for the purpose stated in the imposition ordinance.”

At some point after the Penny Tax became effective, DOR received information concerning the County’s possible misuse of Penny Tax funds. In April 2015, DOR initiated an audit to determine the County’s compliance with state tax laws, specifically including the Transportation Act. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-4-387 (“The Department of Revenue *shall* use available personnel to conduct audits involving *all taxes* to promote voluntary compliance and to collect revenues for the general fund of the State and

designated accounts” (emphasis added) ); *id.* § 12-54-100 to -110 (authorizing DOR to conduct examinations and investigations and to issue a summons for any person or political subdivision of the State requiring that person or entity to appear, produce documents, and answer questions). The County did not object to the audit or to DOR’s authority to conduct it.

Following the audit, DOR informed the County that it had uncovered (1) evidence of public corruption; (2) evidence of criminal violations of state tax laws and (3) unlawful expenditures of Penny Tax revenues by County Council.

DOR identified specific expenditures it believed were problematic . . . .

DOR also noted the County was paying *two* public relations firms monthly payments of \$25,000 each for the provision of “public information services” in addition to reimbursing these firms for expenses such as brochures, mailings, business cards, website maintenance, catering, mileage, and computer and cell phone allowances. It was unclear exactly what work these firms performed since a fully operational public information office already existed within the County and because no documentation existed to detail what specific services were provided, the number of hours spent on these projects, or how much each service cost.

DOR further took issue with the more than \$38,000 the County spent under a vague and duplicative “mentor-mentee” arrangement whereby the County contracted with certain inexperienced individuals to perform more than \$400,000 in real-estate and legal services, then paid each of those individuals and an experienced contractor/vendor \$200 per hour (for a combined cost of \$400 per hour) to “mentor” and “be mentored” and learn how to perform the very services they were contracted to provide.

Faced with these dubious expenditures, the County put forward the position that all these expenditures were properly characterized as “administrative costs” under the Ordinance.

Nevertheless, the day following the audit, the County responded that it was “shocked and alarmed” and expressed a willingness to “immediately invoke measures to protect and preserve county money and assets” and reimburse any inappropriate expenditures of Penny Tax funds that may have occurred. Over the next several months, officials from DOR and the County continued written and in-person discussions regarding the results of DOR’s audit.

*Id.*, 422 S.C. 292, 297-302, 811 S.E.2d 758, 761-63 (footnotes omitted) (italics in original; bold and underlining added).

When discussions between the DOR and Richland County broke down, the DOR stopped remitting the tax proceeds to Richland County. Richland County filed suit against the DOR requesting mandamus relief ordering the DOR to make the monthly payments. The DOR counterclaimed for declaratory judgment that certain expenditures were unlawful.

Shortly thereafter, SCPIF, Sloan and DePass filed a Complaint and an Amended Complaint against Richland County (R. pp. 69-79, 106-115) alleging seven causes of action arising from the same Penny Tax program:

1. Ordinance Number 039-12HR exceeds the scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 4-37-30.
2. Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-50.
3. Procurements Exceed the Scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 4-37-30.
4. No Annual, Independent, Public Audit.
5. No Annual Budget.
6. No Annual, Independent Audits of Agencies Receiving Appropriations.
7. Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 4-37-25

CMRTA moved to intervene as a Defendant. (R. pp. 80-92). Then the County and CMRTA both moved to dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 103-105, 116-118). The Circuit Court ruled that Appellants possess taxpayer standing and public importance standing and also denied the Motions to Dismiss and for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. pp. 21-38).

Later, CMRTA moved for Summary Judgment, and the County moved to dismiss for failure to prosecute and for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 174-185). The Circuit Court granted CMRTA's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed the case against the County for failure to prosecute. (R. pp 4-18). Appellants moved to alter or amend both rulings. (R. pp. 285-296).

While the Motions to Alter or Amend were pending, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued *Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, et al.*, 422 S.C. 292, 811 S.E.2d 758 (S.C. 2018), which ruled that Penny Tax Revenues could not be used for expenditures not related to specific transportation capital projects. Appellants filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motions to Alter or Amend (R. pp. 301-307), based upon the Supreme Court opinion, but the Circuit Court denied both Motions to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 1-3).

Appellants appeal the Order granting summary judgment to CMRTA, the Order dismissing the case against the County for failure to prosecute, and the denial of both Motions to Alter or Amend.

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW

### Summary Judgment

The Circuit Court granted Summary Judgment on the claims against CMRTA. This Court set out the standard for this Court's review of a grant of Summary Judgment in *Sloan v. Greenville Hospital System*.

Under Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a motion for summary judgment shall be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC." *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 114, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (citing *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000)).

A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable; rather, it is determined by the nature of the underlying issue. *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 380 S.C. 528, 534, 670 S.E.2d 663, 666 (Ct.App.2009). "The issue of statutory interpretation is a question of law for the court," and this Court may decide questions of law without deference to the trial court. *Id.* at 534, 670 S.E.2d at 667.

*Id.*, 388 S.C. 152, 156-57, 694 S.E.2d 532, 534-35 (2010).

This Court also stated the standard this way:

In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *South Carolina Elec. & Gas Co. v. Town of Awendaw*, 359 S.C. 29, 34, 596 S.E.2d 482, 485 (2004) (quoting *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001)). On appeal, all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*

*Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 440, 635 S.E.2d 631, 633-34 (2006).

## Failure to Prosecute

The Circuit Court dismissed the claims against Richland County for failure to prosecute.

Whether an action should be dismissed for failure to prosecute is left to the discretion of the trial court judge, and his decision will not be disturbed, except upon a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. *Small v. Mungo*, 254 S.C. 438, 442, 175 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1970).

*McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 62, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (2006).

Generally, the dismissal of actions for failure to prosecute is appropriate in cases where: (1) the dismissals are imposed to maintain the orderly disposition of cases in the face of repeated warnings or multiple opportunities to proceed with trial; and (2) only then upon a finding of unreasonable neglect. *McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 62, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct.App.2006). In addition, “there must be some showing of indifference to the rights of the defendant.” *Id.* at 63, 626 S.E.2d at 904.

Appellants contend that the Circuit Court’s dismissal for failure to prosecute was an abuse of discretion and based on an error of law.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE CMRTA ORDER VIOLATES THE SUPREME COURT RULING.

The Circuit Court granted Summary Judgment to the Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority. (CMRTA Order) (R. pp. 10-18). The court ruled that the Transportation Act authorized the expenditure of Penny Tax revenues for “continued operation of mass transit services provided by Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority.” Richland County Ordinance No. 039-12HR (Ordinance). (R. p. 17).

Appellants had argued that Penny Tax revenues must be used only for capital expenditures. The Circuit Court summarized Appellants’ arguments.

[Appellants] allege CMRTA’s use of penny tax revenues for operating expenses or administrative expenses is unlawful. They allege this use of funds exceeds the scope of § 4-37-30. Also, [Appellants] take exception to the language in Section 2 of Ordinance 039-12HR describing the mass transit systems project, “continued operation of mass transit services.” **[Appellants] maintain these penny tax revenues must be used solely on capital costs for transportation facilities and not the continued operation of the system.**

(R. pp. 16-17) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court accurately stated Appellants’ contentions.

The Circuit Court rejected Appellants’ interpretation of the Transportation Act.

But if one used the [Appellants’] interpretation of the statute, the penny tax revenues could be used for mass transit systems, but **only for expenditures on capital costs.** This interpretation goes beyond the plain language of the statute and would result in the expenditures being used **only to buy buses or construct facilities related to the mass transit system.**

(R. p. 17) (emphasis added). Again, the Circuit Court’s description of Appellants’ position was accurate.

Just prior to its Conclusion, the Circuit Court summarized its findings:

The Court finds that the legislative intent is clear from the enabling Act itself. **There is no statutory language that states expenditures of penny tax revenues are limited to “capital costs”.** Further, the legislature’s preamble and findings lead to an opposite result -- penny tax revenues may be expended on the **operation** of transportation-related projects, which the statute specifically defines to include mass transit systems, such as the CMRTA.

(R. p. 18) (emphasis added).

As demonstrated below, the South Carolina Supreme Court’s opinion in *Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue* is directly contrary to the analysis of the Circuit Court. *Id.*, 422 S.C. 292, 811 S.E.2d 758 (S.C. 2018). The Supreme Court ruled that **only capital expenditures** qualify as lawful uses of the Penny Tax funds. Under the Supreme Court analysis, and the plain language of the Transportation Act, Penny Tax Revenues may not be used for the “continued operation” of the bus system. Appellants respectfully submit that the Circuit Court’s ruling in the CMRTA Order must be reversed in light of the Supreme Court’s ruling.

The Supreme Court ruled that the Transportation Act Limited Penny Tax expenditures to “‘***transportation-related projects.***’ [S.C. Code Ann.] § 4-37-30(A)(1)(a)(i) (emphasis added).” *Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 298, 811 S.E.2d 758, 761 (S.C. 2018). The Supreme Court continued:

The revenues generated from such a tax **must be used** in accordance with **statutory restrictions** imposed by the General Assembly—namely, proceeds **must be used for the capital costs** of the types of **transportation projects** identified in the Transportation Act. *Id.* § 4-37-30(A)(15).”

*Id.*, (emphasis added). The Court continued: “At issue in this case is whether and to what extent certain costs qualify as ‘**capital costs**’ and thus are considered **proper expenditures of penny tax revenues.**” *Id.*, (emphasis added). The Court ruled that although some

“administrative costs” were allowed under the Transportation Act, those “administrative costs” must be directly related to specific “capital costs.” The Supreme Court ruled:

Primarily, **DOR correctly asserted** the County’s expenditure of Penny Tax funds on **“administrative costs” that were unrelated to any specific transportation project were improper as they exceeded the scope of the Transportation Act.** DOR informed the County that regardless of what “administrative costs” the County’s Penny Tax Ordinance purported to allow, **only those costs allowable under the Transportation Act were proper expenditures of Penny Tax funds.** However, DOR also acknowledged this might include certain limited transportation-related administrative costs:

While some administrative costs may be appropriate expenditures under the [T]ransportation [Act], the use of the term “capital costs” in the statute gives some guidance on what administrative costs may be properly allowable under the law. The term “capital cost” is not defined in the law. However, **“capital costs” are generally considered one-time costs incurred for the creation or improvement of tangible property, either real or personal, such as buildings, infrastructure[,] and equipment . . . .** The concept of “capitalized costs” for tax purposes is described in detail in Internal Revenue Code (IRC) §§ 263, 263A, and the accompanying regulations . . . . Since the [Transportation Act] does not define “capital costs,” these Internal Revenue Code principles can be used to provide guidance as to which costs are properly allowable under the [T]ransportation [Act].

*Id.*, 422 S.C. 292, 302-03, 811 S.E.2d 758, 763-64 (S.C. 2018) (emphasis added). The “continued operation” of the CMRTA is not a “one-time cost,” and therefore it is not a capital expenditure. *Id.* at 292, 302-03.

To provide clarity on what expenditures from the Penny Tax are permissible, the Supreme Court endorsed the Internal Revenue Code §§ 263 and 263A, which explains the meaning of capital expenditures.

In light of the County’s many suspect expenditures of Penny Tax funds, DOR requested an injunction against the County prohibiting the further expenditure of Penny Tax funds **until the County “adopts IRC 263/263A or some other acceptable alternative** as a standard to be used to determine

when expenditures are proper within the [Transportation] Act.” **Under these compelling circumstances, we find an injunction is appropriate.** To ensure objective criteria establishing compliance with the Transportation Act, **the County shall be subject to guidelines** for determining whether expenses are properly allocable to a specific transportation project, or the direct administration of a specific transportation project. Accordingly, the County is hereby enjoined from violating the Transportation Act. We direct the circuit court, no later than thirty days following remand, to enter the preliminary injunction in accordance with this opinion.

*Id.*, 422 S.C. 292, 311, 811 S.E.2d 758, 768-69 (S.C. 2018) (emphasis added).

Ordinance Number 039-12HR purported to fund “continued operation of mass transit services provided by [CMRTA] including implementation of near, mid and long-term service improvements.” *Id.*, Section 2. (c), Project 2. Using the proceeds of the Penny Tax for “continued operation of mass transit services” violates the stated statutory purpose of the Penny Tax: “financing transportation **facilities**” (emphasis added). CMRTA is being funded from the Penny Tax proceeds at a rate of about \$3.5 million per quarter. (R. p. 212).<sup>1</sup>

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