THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000794  
Case No. 2016-CP-40-2875

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation, Edward D. Sloan,  
Jr., and William B. DePass, Jr., individually, and on behalf of  
all others similarly situated,..... Appellants,

v.

Richland County,..... Respondent,

and

Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority,..... Intervenor-Respondent.

**AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Andrew F. Lindemann  
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923

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

prosecute with due diligence is generally considered inherent and independent of any statute or rule of court. Such power is deemed to be necessarily vested in trial courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve orderly and expeditious disposition of cases.” 493 S.E.2d at 832.

Thus, the controlling standard, according to Supreme Court authority, is “unreasonable neglect.” That is the very standard that the Circuit Court applied in this case. The Circuit Court found, as fully supported by the record, a “lack of activity in prosecuting this action by the Plaintiffs,” which warranted a dismissal “under Rule 41(b) and the inherent authority of the Court.” (R. 8). The Circuit Court provided a specific explanation for its conclusion:

[T]he record reflects that the Plaintiffs have taken no action to prosecute their claims in the eighteen or so months since the Complaint was filed on May 9, 2016. The Plaintiffs pursued no discovery as part of this lawsuit. No written discovery was timely served by the Plaintiffs, and no depositions have been taken. In the Amended Order Denying Motions to Dismiss and Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings filed March 27, 2017, the Court wrote as follows: “The Court finds that the issue in the First Cause of Action is not one that should be decided on judgment on the pleadings, but rather should be developed factually and legally through the course of the litigation. There has been no discovery in this case.” Since that time, the Court is advised that discovery has still not been conducted. In short, this Court finds that no timely discovery has been initiated or completed, and based on the Scheduling Order filed November 18, 2016, the discovery deadline has now expired.

(R. 8). (Footnotes omitted).

Nonetheless, the Appellants suggest that the Circuit Court failed to apply the correct legal standard. They point solely to this Court's decision in *McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 626 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2006), and suggest that this Court required "extensive analytical standards" beyond the "unreasonable neglect" standard as adopted and applied by the Supreme Court. That is a misreading of *McComas*, and to the extent that *McComas* may be construed as altering the "unreasonable neglect" standard adopted by the Supreme Court, it should be disregarded. S.C. Const art V, § 9 ("The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents"); *State v. Cheeks*, 400 S.C. 329, 733 S.E.2d 611, 618 (Ct. App. 2012) (recognizing the Court of Appeals is bound by the decisions of the Supreme Court).

In actuality, this Court in *McComas* states at the outset of the opinion that "the trial court may properly dismiss an action for plaintiff's *unreasonable neglect* in proceeding with her cause." 626 S.E.2d at 904, *citing Don Shevey, supra*. (Emphasis added). This Court later cites to the "federal standard" as described in Fourth Circuit case law but also acknowledges a clear distinction between the "delay and contemptuous conduct [standard] as required by the federal cases" and the "unreasonable neglect [standard], as required by the South Carolina case law." 626 S.E.2d at 905. There is no indication that this Court actually adopted or intended to adopt the federal standard as the law in South Carolina.

Thus, the applicable standard under South Carolina law has been and continues to be “unreasonable neglect.” That is the legal standard applied by the Circuit Court in this case, and hence, there was no error of law committed that would warrant a reversal.

Notably, this Court in *McComas* also recognized that “dismissals for failure to prosecute are fact-intensive issues.” 626 S.E.2d at 905. Under an abuse of discretion standard, the reviewing court may not substitute its own judgment or findings for the trial court’s factual findings. Instead, the appellate court only ensures that those findings have evidentiary support in the record. In the case at bar, the Circuit Court’s conclusion of “unreasonable neglect” by the Appellants is fully supported in the record. The Appellants dispute this by arguing that a pre-suit Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request constitutes the conduct of discovery in the case. They also argue that opposing dispositive motions somehow counteracts the Circuit Court’s finding of unreasonable neglect. They do not. As the Circuit Court ruled, the denial of the County’s initial motion to dismiss was specifically premised on its finding that the claims required factual development and the court’s recognition that no discovery had yet taken place. The requisite factual development is necessarily achieved in a case such as this through the discovery process. Even though the Appellants may have obtained documents by means of a pre-suit FOIA request, that does not make those documents admissible in this action. The authenticity and relevance of that evidence must be established

through witnesses with knowledge of those documents and with knowledge of Richland County's Penny Tax Program.<sup>6</sup> No such evidence was ever developed in this case by depositions or otherwise, and as the Circuit Court noted, the discovery period had ended in accordance with a scheduling order issued with the consent of the parties and for which there was never a requested extension. Most telling is the fact that, in response to the County's filing of its summary judgment motion, the Appellants immediately served its *first* sets of written discovery. As the Circuit Court correctly noted, that belated attempt to initiate the very first discovery in the litigation came more than two months after the close of discovery and seventeen months after the suit was first filed.<sup>7</sup>

In short, there is sufficient evidence to support the Circuit Court's finding of "unreasonable neglect" on the part of the Appellants in their lack of prosecution of

---

<sup>6</sup> The record bears out this point. In a desperate attempt to defend against the County's motion for summary judgment on the merits, the Appellants filed random documents without any supporting testimony – by deposition or affidavit -- to authenticate or otherwise establish their admissibility, including a newspaper article and an affidavit of an SCDOR employee that had been filed in the SCDOR litigation, was inadmissible hearsay, and had been the subject of an order striking significant portions of that affidavit. The Appellants even included an internal memorandum by the County Administrator that has been badly misconstrued by the Appellants to suggest that the Penny Tax Program had "\$35 million in overdrafts" when the memorandum was referencing other capital project funds. That memorandum was simply attached to a memorandum filed with the court and was not authenticated or explained by deposition testimony or any other means.

<sup>7</sup> Notably, the Consent Order for Complex Case Designation as agreed to by the parties also recognized early in the litigation that "[i]t is expected there will be significant discovery sought in *this* case because of the issues in the case." (R. 65-66).

the case.<sup>8</sup> In this respect, this case is no different from *Don Shevey, supra*, where the Supreme Court found that the appellant “failed to ... timely prosecute the case” where it “took no action” for a period of nineteen months and “completely disregard[ed] [its] burden of proceeding with due diligence.” 301 S.E.2d at 758. As was the result in *Don Shevey*, the Circuit Court in this case did not abuse its discretion in dismissing this action under Rule 41(b) and the inherent authority of the court.

**II. The judicial policy that duplicative litigation is disfavored and should be avoided is an additional sustaining ground for the Circuit Court’s dismissal of the Appellants’ action.**

As an additional sustaining ground,<sup>9</sup> the County submits that the Appellants should not be permitted to proceed with this action because, as is evident from the Appellants’ opening brief, this action is duplicative to and essentially governed by

---

<sup>8</sup> Because South Carolina has not adopted the “delay and contemptuous conduct” standard from the federal courts, the Appellants’ argument that they were not sanctioned by the court or in violation of any court order is not material. What is material is the Appellants’ neglect to prosecute the action within the time frames established by the scheduling order.

<sup>9</sup> In the case of *I’On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000), the Supreme Court explained that a respondent “may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” 526 S.E.2d at 723. “The appellate court may review respondent’s additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court’s judgment.” *Id.* See also, Rule 220(c), SCACR (“[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the record”); Rule 207(b)(2), SCACR (“[r]espondent’s brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c)”).

the action brought by SCDOR against Richland County and CMRTA.<sup>10</sup> In addition, in the SCDOR litigation, the Supreme Court has recognized that SCDOR has the unique statutory authority to oversee the County's Penny Tax expenditures, and hence, it is a waste of judicial resources as well as unfair to the litigants for a taxpayer to pursue the same "oversight" litigation that SCDOR is already pursuing in its governmental regulatory role.

In effect, the rationale of Rule 12(b)(8), SCRPC, is applicable here. In *State ex rel. Wilson v. Condon*, 410 S.C. 331, 764 S.E.2d 247 (2014), the Supreme Court recognized that "although the parties in this matter and the federal case are not identical, the principle underlying Rule 12(b)(8) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure that duplicative litigation should be avoided applies to this case." 764 S.E.2d at 248. The same is true with the case at bar. Although SCDOR and the Appellants are not technically the same party, they serve the identical roles in the two lawsuits brought against the County and CMRTA over the same issues and concerns. In fact, the Circuit Court granted the Appellants taxpayer and public importance standing on the premise that "[a] decision is necessary for future guidance." (R. 49). That same "future guidance" is equally achievable through the SCDOR case, and hence, there is no need for the duplicative litigation which the

---

<sup>10</sup> This should not be disputed. In the Consent Order for Complex Case Designation, the parties agreed that the SCDOR litigation is "a case with similar facts and legal issues" and that "there may be similar legal and administrative issues that would require duplication of, and potential inconsistent results were the cases not assigned to the same trial judge." (R. 65-66).

Supreme Court has cautioned is to be “avoided,” particularly in inherently complex and novel cases such as the legality of same-sex marriage in *Condon* and the construction and application of the Transportation Act at issue here and in the SCDOR litigation.

In fact, the SCDOR case is the more appropriate case to proceed at this juncture. That case is currently pending in the Circuit Court after remand from the Supreme Court. Discovery is proceeding in that case. The Supreme Court and the Circuit Court have implemented a temporary injunction, and “guidelines” as required by the Supreme Court have been prepared and adopted by the Circuit Court to govern the County’s expenditure of the Penny Tax revenues as part of that temporary injunction. More importantly, the Supreme Court has recognized that SCDOR has “extensive administrative, oversight, and enforcement responsibilities in the Transportation Act and ... Title 12 of the South Carolina Code confer[s] upon DOR a duty in ensuring the County’s expenditures of Penny Tax revenues comply with the revenue laws DOR is charged with enforcing.” *Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 492, 811 S.E.2d 758, 765 (2018). The Supreme Court also described SCDOR as “the agency statutorily tasked with administering the Penny Tax program” and further noted that “the expenditure of millions of dollars of Penny Tax revenues is an issue of wide concern ... to DOR.” *Id.* Thus, under the Supreme Court’s reasoning, SCDOR would be the a more appropriate party than the Appellants to prosecute claims for

declaratory and injunctive relief within this context. In short, the avoidance of duplicative litigation is an additional basis for upholding the Circuit Court's dismissal of the Appellants' lawsuit.

**III. The Appellants are not entitled to a ruling on the merits of their claims against Richland County given that the merits have not been adjudicated in the Circuit Court.**

In Section III of their opening brief, the Appellants appear to argue the merits of their claims against Richland County and oddly seem to suggest that they are entitled to prevail on the merits.<sup>11</sup> That would be improper for several obvious

---

<sup>11</sup> In contravention of Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, the Appellants' opening brief did not include a statement of issues on appeal. After the Respondents had filed their initial briefs and pointed out that deficiency, the Court allowed the Appellants to file an amended brief that now includes a statement of issues on appeal. Nonetheless, as their third issue on appeal, the Appellants write: "Did Appellants plead and supported [sic] valid claims?" See, Appellants' Brief, p. 1. Based thereon, the County is still unable to determine whether the Appellants are actually seeking judgment in this Court on the various claims asserted in their Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. In Section III of the brief, they claim to have pled and supported "valid claims," but it is unclear whether they are arguing that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law (which they are not) or whether they are showing that summary judgment in the County's favor would have been denied if the Circuit Court had reached those issues grounds.

In short, the Appellants' third "issue on appeal" should be dismissed on procedural grounds. Rule 208(b)(1)(B) requires that "[t]he statement [of issues on appeal] shall be concise and direct as to each issue .... Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. This Court has cautioned that "[e]very ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to 'grope in the dark' to ascertain the precise point at issue." *Forest Dunes Associates v. Club Carib, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 87, 390 S.E.2d 368, 370 (Ct. App. 1990). With respect to the Appellants' third "issue on appeal" the Court and the Respondents are left to "grope in the dark" as to the issue or issues raised, and as a result, that portion of the appeal should be dismissed.

reasons. First, the Appellants never filed a motion for summary judgment in the Circuit Court, so they are certainly not entitled to a judgment on the merits on appeal. In other words, they should not be able to obtain relief on appeal that was never sought in the lower court. Second, the Circuit Court never ruled on the merits of the County's motion for summary judgment, with the exception of granting a dismissal for failure to prosecute. Therefore, in the event that that dismissal is reversed, the merits of the Appellants' claims and the County's defenses must be remanded for a decision on the merits. This Court certainly has no authority to grant judgment to an appellant on claims the merits of which the Circuit Court has not as yet adjudicated. In short, the merits of the Appellants' claims and the County's defenses are not preserved for a decision on appeal.<sup>12</sup>

In addition, the County also points out that the Appellants' reliance on the Supreme Court's decision in the SCDOR litigation is misplaced. SCDOR and the County appealed from the denial of motions for temporary injunctions and the grant of a petition for mandamus. As part of that appeal, the Supreme Court determined that SCDOR has oversight authority as discussed above and standing to pursue its claims against the County. The Supreme Court did not, however, decide

---

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